IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHAVIS ZEIGLER,			
Petitioner,			
v.		SC06-589 1 ST DCA CASE NO	1005-314
STATE OF FLORIDA,		I DCA CASE NO.	1003-314
Respondent.	/		
TRISTAN ELLIS,			
Petitioner,			
v.		SC06-589 1 ST DCA CASE NO	1D0E 21E
STATE OF FLORIDA,		I DCA CASE NO.	. 1005-315
Respondent.	/		

SECOND AMENDED JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PHIL PATTERSON

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLA. BAR NO. 0444774 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8524

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONERS

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In the district court of appeal, the instant two cases, Chavis Zeigler v. State, 1D05-314, and Tristan Ellis v. State, 1D05-314, were consolidated for direct appeal as they both involved the identical issue and evidence.

Both petitioners were charged by information with trafficking in cocaine and misdemeanor possession of marijuana.

Before trial, both men moved to suppress the contraband and asserted that it was seized during their illegal detention.

The evidence showed that Deputy Brownfield was conducting drug interdiction duties on Interstate 75 late at night.

Brownfield observed the petitioners drive by and did not see the temporary tag posted in the rear window of their car.

Consequently, he activated his overhead lights and stopped the

petitioners. As Brownfield approached the petitioners' car on foot, he noticed a properly displayed temporary tag in the back window.

Nevertheless, Brownfield went to the passenger side of the vehicle, knocked on the window with his flashlight and directed the occupants to provide identification. When the passenger side window was rolled down so the deputy could examine their identification papers, the deputy put his head inside the vehicle and detected an odor of burned marijuana. The petitioners were removed from the vehicle and it was searched. Cocaine and marijuana were found inside.

The trial court found no Fourth Amendment violation with the petitioners' detention or the subsequent seizure of the contraband from their vehicle.

Thereafter, both petitioners entered nolo contendere pleas and reserved their right to appeal the denial of their motion to suppress.

On direct appeal, both petitioners asserted that the contraband should have been suppressed on the authority of this Court's decision in State v. Diaz, 850 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 2003). In that case, a deputy stopped a car because he could not read the temporary tag posted on the rear window. As he approached the car he was able to read the tag and determined that it was

valid. Nevertheless, he approached the driver and asked for his driver's license. That led to the discovery that Diaz did not have a valid driver's license.

This Court ultimately ruled that once the reason for the stop had dissipated, "the sheriff's deputy could lawfully make personal contact with Mr. Diaz only to explain to him the reason for the initial stop. Because the sheriff's deputy had no justification for further detention, anything more than an explanation of the stop was a violation of Mr. Diaz's Fourth Amendment rights." Id. at 440 (emphasis addes).

The First District Court ruled that <u>State v. Diaz</u>, supra was distinguishable from this case. The District Court opined:

According to the supreme court's ruling, Officer Brownfield had the legal authority to make personal contact with Appellants and to be in a position to smell the marijuana. An officer may use his sense of smell from a place where he may lawfully be to develop probable cause for a detention. See Lara v. State, 497 So. 2d 1311, 1312 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Once Officer Brownfield smelled the marijuana, he was entitled to detain Appellants. See, eg., State v. Betz, 815 So. 2d 627 (Fla. 2002).

Although Officer Brownfield impermissibly asked for Appellant's identification, the trial court correctly determined that the contraband was not required to be suppressed. Under the inevitable discovery rule, when evidence is obtained through the result of unconstitutional police procedures, the evidence will still be admissible if it would have been discovered through legal means. See Jeffries v State, 797 So. 2d 573, 577-578 (Fla. 2001).

Zeigler and Chavis v. State, 2006 WL 538184 (Fla. 1st DCA, March 7, 2006).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision in <u>Zeigler and Chavis v. State</u>, supra because the holding in that case is in express and direct conflict with this Court's decision in State v. Diaz, supra.

In <u>Diaz</u>, supra, this Court held that once the reason for a traffic stop had dissipated, a police officer could make personal contact with the driver only to explain the reason for the stop, and that it was a violation of the Fourth Amendment to detain the driver to check his driver's license. In <u>Diaz</u>, supra, the improper driver's license check led to Mr. Diaz' arrest for driving with a suspended license.

Here, Deputy Brownfield realized that the petitioners had a valid temporary tag on their car before he made contact with them. Nevertheless, rather than explaining the reason for the stop, Brownfield knocked on the passenger's side window with his flashlight and requested identification. When the car window was lowered so that identification could be handed to the officer, he stuck his head inside the vehicle and smelled burned marijuana.

The opinion at issue is also in express and direct conflict with Moody v. State, 842 So. 2d 754 (Fla. 2003) and Fitzpatrick v. State, 900 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 2005) concerning the inevitable discovery doctrine.

The district court ruled that Deputy Brownfield would have inevitably smelled burned marijuana coming from the petitioners' vehicle because <u>State v. Diaz</u>, supra, authorized him to make personal contact with the petitioners to explain the reason for their being stopped.

In both <u>Moody</u>, supra, and <u>Fitzgerald</u>, supra, this Court held that in making a case for inevitable discovery, the state must show that at the time of the constitutional violation an investigation was already under way.

In the case at bar, there was no evidence whatsoever that either Chavis or Zeigler was already under investigation by any law enforcement organization when the constitutional violation occurred. Thus, the district court's application of the inevitable discovery doctrine is in express and direct conflict with this Court's holdings in both <u>Fitzpatrick</u>, and <u>Moody</u>.

Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction to review the holding in Zeigler & Chavis v. State, supra. See, Art. V, S. 3(b)(3), Const. of Fla., and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IN ZEIGLER & CHAVIS V. STATE, SUPRA, IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN STATE V. DIAZ, SUPRA, REGARDING THE CONTINUED DETENTION OF A MOTORIST AFTER THE REASON FOR A TRAFFIC STOP HAS DISSIPATED, AND IS ALSO IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN FITZPATRICK V. STATE, SUPRA, AND MOODY V. STATE, SUPRA, CONCERNING THE APPLICATION OF THE INEVITABLE DISCOVERY DOCTRINE.

Illegal Detention

In State v. Diaz, supra, this Court held that when the reason for an auto stop had dissipated, a law enforcement officer could make contact with the occupants "only to explain to him the reason for the initial stop," and that "anything more than an explanation for the stop was a violation of Mr. Diaz' Fourth Amendment rights." The Court explained that "as soon as the officer determined the validity of Mr. Diaz' temporary tag, he no longer had reasonable grounds or any other basis, legal or otherwise, to further detain Mr. Diaz." The Court went on, "further detaining Mr. Diaz equated to nothing less than an indiscriminate, baseless detention, not unlike that held to be inappropriate and unconstitutional by the United States Supreme Court in Prouse." The Court concluded that, "The investigative

¹ <u>Deleware v. Prouse</u>, 440 U.S. 648, 653, 99 S.Ct. 1391, 59 L.Ed.2d 660 (1979).

procedures and personal examination, requiring the production of further information, was beyond that which was necessary or reasonable to satisfy the stated purpose of the stop." Id.

In Zeigler and Chavis v. State, supra, the First District
Court of Appeal unconstitutionally expanded this Court's holding
in Diaz by allowing Deputy Brownfield to require that
identification be shown before an explanation for the stop is
given. Had Brownfield not required the petitioners to roll down
their car window and provide identification, no marijuana smoke
would have been detected, and the petitioners would have been on
their way. That is, Brownfield testified at deposition, "And as
I stuck my head through the window that's when I detected the
odor of marijuana...." Deposition of Deputy Brownfield, page
36. Moreover, the videotape of the stop shows Brownfield
tapping on the passenger side window and demanding
identification. The window is rolled down and identification is
passed to the deputy as he sticks his head inside the car.

On authority of <u>State v. Diaz</u>, supra, Brownfield was limited to explaining the reason for the stop. He was then required to allow the petitioners to go on their way.

The decision by the First District Court in this case is in express and direct conflict with this Court's decision in Diaz, supra, in that it permits an officer to detain a motorist and

check their identification without any suspicion of illegal activity. <u>Diaz</u>, supra, expressly forbid such an investigative procedure.

Inevitable Discovery Doctrine

The decision of the First District Court also expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decisions in Fitzpatrick v.
State, 900 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 2005), and Moody v. State, 842 So.
2d 754 (Fla. 2003), regarding application of the inevitable discovery doctrine.

In Zeigler and Chavis v. State, supra, the district court held that "Under the inevitable discovery rule, when evidence is obtained through the result of unconstitutional police procedures, the evidence will still be admissible if it would have been discovered through legal means. See Jeffries v. State, 797 So. 2d 573, 577-578 (Fla. 2001)." The district court went on: "Here, the trial court determined that Officer Brownfield smelled marijuana when he went to appellant's stopped vehicle. Had Officer Brownfield immediately explained the reason for the stop when he made personal contact with Appellants, rather than first asking Appellants for their

² It should not be overlooked that earlier in the opinion, the district court wrote, "Appellant Zeigler rolled down his window [to produce the demanded identification], and almost immediately Officer Brownfield smelled burnt marajuana emanating from the vehicle." Zeigler and Ellis v. State, supra.

identification, he would have still smelled marijuana and thus developed probable cause to detain Appellants." 3

Of course, that conclusion necessarily includes the assumption that the petitioners would have rolled down their window without being asked for identification, which, ironically, <u>Jefferies v. State</u>, supra, expressly forbids ("Mere assumptions are not enough to meet the reasonable probability standard set forth in Brookins.")

Moreover, in Moody v. State, supra, this Court held that "In making a case for inevitable discovery, the State must show that at the time of the constitutional violation an investigation was already under way" citing Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 457, 104 S.Ct. 2501, 81 L.Ed.2d 377 (1984). See also, Fitzpatrick v. State, supra.

There is no evidence, or even a suggestion, in the instant record that "at the time of the constitutional violation an investigation was already under way" concerning either petitioner. Thus, to find that police would have inevitably smelled the marijuana smoke or found the drugs in petitioners' car without the constitutional violation is an assumption without an evidentiary basis. See, Jeffries v. State, supra.

³ Petitioners concede that if Deputy Brownfield had detected the odor of marijuana before the window was rolled down that the subsequent seizure of drugs would have been lawful. That, however, is simply not what the evidence showed.

Moreover, such an assumption is in express and direct conflict with this Court's decisions in Fitzpatrick and Moody because in this case, there was no investigation of either petitioner already under way when the constitutional violation occurred.

CONCLUSION

The First District Court's decision in Zeigler and Chavis

v. State, supra, is in direct and express conflict with this

Courts decision in State v. Diaz supra, concerning continued

detention of a motorist after the reason for a traffic stop has

dissipated. The district court's decision is also in express

and direct conflict with this Court's decisions in Moody v.

State, supra, and Fitzpatrick v. State, supra concerning

application of the inevitable discovery doctrine. Consequently,

this Court should accept jurisdiction of this case and resolve

the conflicts in the existing case law.

AMENDED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing has been furnished by U.S. Mail to Daniel A. David,
Assistant Attorney General, counsel for the State of Florida, at The Capitol, PL-01, Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050; and to Chavis Zeigler, DOC# 124866, New River Correctional Institution - West Unit, 7819 NW 228th Street, Raiford, FL 32026, and Tristan Ellis,

DOC# 880137, Century Correctional Institution, 400 Tedder Road, Century, FL 32535, on this date, May 1, 2006.