CHAVIS ZIEGLER and TRISTAN ELLIS,

Petitioners,

CASE NO. SC06-589 1st DCA Case Nos. 1D05-314 (Ziegler) and 1D-315 (Ellis)

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT WHEELER TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

DANIEL A. DAVID ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0650412

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4573 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioners, Chavis Ziegler and Tristan Ellis, the Appellants in the DCA and the defendants in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner(s) or by proper name(s).

"PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

A bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appeared in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal, attached, which is to be found at 31 Fla. L. Weekly D706a.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner has improperly relied upon the record in the trial court and simply does not acknowledge this case is distinguishable from those he claims conflict with. The appropriate focus upon the operative facts, as contained within the "four corners" of the DCA's decision, reveals no express and direct conflict with a decision of this Court.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

IS THERE EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND STATE V. DIAZ, MOODY V. STATE OR FITZPATRICK V. STATE? (Restated)

Jurisdictional Criteria

Petitioner contends that this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), which parallels Article V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. The constitution provides:

The supreme court ... [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

The conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). <u>Accord</u> Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So.2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986)(rejected "inherent" or "implied" conflict; dismissed petition). Neither the record, nor a concurring opinion, nor a dissenting opinion can be used to establish jurisdiction. Reaves, Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980)

In Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958), this Court explained:

It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts. The revision and

modernization of the Florida judicial system at the appellate level was prompted by the great volume of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay in the administration of justice. The new article embodies throughout its terms the idea of a Supreme Court which functions as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the preservation of uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district courts in most instances being final and absolute.

Accordingly, the determination of conflict jurisdiction distills to whether the District Court's decision reached a result opposite this Court's in <u>Diaz</u>, <u>Moody</u> or <u>Fitzpatrick</u>.

The decision below is not in "express and direct" conflict with Diaz, Moody or Fitzpatrick.

The District Court decision below simply and accurately distinguished <u>Diaz</u> and is thus not in conflict with it. As to <u>Moody</u> and <u>Fitzpatrick</u>, neither of those cases appear at all in the decision of the First District below, and thus are not in conflict with this District Court decision upon which review is sought.

This case is nothing more than the District Court's correct observation that the facts in this case are materially different than those in <u>Diaz</u> and thus <u>Diaz</u> was distinguishable. Here, after stopping the vehicle for a temporary tag that turned out to be properly displayed, the deputy approached the vehicle and

- 4 -

immediately smelled the burned marijuana, per the facts as laid out by the First DCA, 31 Fla.L. Weekly D706a:

Officer Brownfield continued to approach the vehicle and asked to see Appellant's identification. Appellant Ziegler rolled down his window, and almost immediately Officer Brownfield smelled burnt marijuana emanating from the vehicle.

The First DCA applied Diaz as follows, id.:

According to the supreme court's ruling, Officer Brownfield had the legal authority to make personal contact with Appellants and to be in a position to smell the marijuana. An officer may use his sense of smell from a place where he may lawfully be to develop probable cause for a detention. *See Lara v. State*, 497 So.2d 1311, 1312 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Once Officer Brownfield smelled the marijuana, he was entitled to detain Appellants. *See, e.g., State v. Betz*, 815 So.2d 627 (Fla. 2002).

Thus, the decision of the First District can be accurately summarized as follows: the policeman was in a lawful position when he smelled burnt marijuana coming out of the stopped car, and this odor provided a valid basis for detention and investigation.

Respondent specifically rejects the repeated assertion in Petitioners' Second Amended Jurisdictional Brief that "the deputy put his head inside the vehicle and detected an odor of marijuana" (PJB, p. 2), "he stuck his head inside the vehicle and smelled burned marijuana" (PJB, p. 4), and like assertions based on deposition testimony and physical evidence (video) (PJB, p. 7). Absolutely no mention of any kind is made within the four corners of the decision below that the officer put, stuck, or inserted his head into the car so as to be able to smell the marijuana. For the same reasons, Respondent rejects Petitioners' "Deputy Brownfield was conducting drug interdiction on Interstate 75 late at night" (PJB, p. 1) assertion.

Even assuming the impropriety under <u>Diaz</u> of the deputy asking for identification instead of explaining the reason for the traffic stop and then sending Petitioners on their way, this is of no moment. For, as noted by the First District, once the Officer was in that lawful spot by the car window, whether it be to explain and release or ask for ID, "almost immediately Officer Brownfield smelled burned marijuana emanating from the vehicle."

Thus, even if <u>Diaz</u> had been followed to the letter, "Had Officer Brownfield immediately explained the reason for the stop when he made personal contact with Appellants, rather than asking Appellants for their identification, he would have still smelled marijuana and thus developed probable cause to detain Appellants." 31 Fla. L. Weekly at D706a.

It was the virtually instantaneous presentation of olfactory probable cause when the officer appeared at the driver's side

– б –

window that distinguishes this case from Diaz, 850 So.2d at 440:

Having verified the total validity of Mr. Diaz's temporary tag, the sheriff's deputy could lawfully make personal contact with Mr. Diaz only to explain to him the reason for the initial stop. Because the sheriff's deputy had no justification for further detention, anything more than an explanation of the stop was a violation of Mr. Diaz's Fourth Amendment rights.

Even if the officer had done only that which was permissible under <u>Diaz</u>: "Sorry to bother you. I stopped you because I thought your temporary tag was bad, but walking up to your car I could see it was good. You're free to go," in so imparting the reason for the stop, the officer would have smelled the burnt marijuana.

That Petitioners here wanted **no** contact whatsoever with law enforcement, not even a <u>Diaz</u> authorized explanation for the initial stop, is made clear by the First District's rejection of Petitioners' extreme position: "We also reject Appellants' argument that Officer Brownfield was constitutionally required to make personal contact with Appellants through a closed vehicle window." 31 Fla. L. Weekly D706a. Because literal adherence to <u>Diaz</u> would produce the result that the officer would be presented with aromatic probable cause from the Petitioners' car, the First DCA properly found <u>Diaz</u> distinguishable and discovery inevitable.

- 7 -

Petitioners' claim of conflict between the First District decision below with those of this Court in <u>Moody v. State</u> and <u>Fitzpatrick v. State</u> is unpersuasive. As noted prior, neither <u>Moody</u> nor <u>Fitzpatrick</u> appear in the First District decision. This puts petitioners in the posture of arguing some sort of express and direct *sub silentio* conflict. Even reaching out beyond the four corners of the District Court decision below to these non-relied upon, non-mentioned cases, there is no conflict.

As to <u>Moody</u>, notably, four sentences later in the very same paragraph Petitioners source for the inevitable discovery quote, this Court states: "In other words, the case must be in such a posture that the facts already in the possession of the police would have led to this evidence notwithstanding the police misconduct." Moody v. State, 842 So. 2d 754, 759 (Fla. 2003).

That is precisely what happened here. The case would be in the same posture (Petitioners' car mistakenly stopped for a temporary tag thought to be bad which turns out good), then the facts already in possession of police (smelled aroma of burned marijuana after police arrival at the car door) constituted a lawful basis for continued detention and search, "notwithstanding the police misconduct" (which in this case was

- 8 -

asking for identification rather than an explanation for the stop and release per <u>Diaz</u>). Irrespective of what the officer asked for or stated upon contacting the vehicle occupants, when that contact was made, the marijuana odor was detected. When that odor was detected, the lawful basis for further detention and investigation came into existence. It would have come into existence whether the officer explained the basis for the stop, or asked for identification.

As to <u>Fitzpatrick</u>, review of that case shows no conflict with the First District decision below. <u>Fitzpatrick</u> sets out the same general principles as <u>Moody</u> regarding inevitable discovery. The segment Petitioners seize on, apparently, is the requirement of an on-going investigation for inevitable discovery to be a viable legal vehicle for admission of evidence. However, just as it did in <u>Moody</u>, this Court in <u>Fitzpatrick</u> made it clear that the on-going investigation requirement is just one way of expressing the matter. In <u>Fitzpatrick</u>, this Court stated, 900 So. 2d 495, 514, as to the inevitable discovery doctrine:

Under this exception, "evidence obtained as the result of unconstitutional police procedure may still be admissible provided the evidence would ultimately have been discovered by legal means." <u>Maulden v. State</u>, 617 So. 2d 298, 301 (Fla. 1993).

The facts here show discovery of the same evidence ultimately

- 9 -

via legal means: The officer approaches the stopped car to explain, per <u>Diaz</u>, the reason for the stop. Upon reaching the car window, opened so as to allow communication, the officer smells burned marijuana.

Alternatively, even under the "on-going investigation" requirement, the on-going investigation here started *instanter* when the officer walked to the car, and at that point smelled burned marijuana. As soon as the officer smelled burned marijuana, an investigation was afoot. From the First DCA's decision, 31 Fla.L.Weekly D706a:

Appellant Ziegler rolled down his window, and almost immediately Officer Brownfield smelled burnt marijuana emanating from the vehicle. Thereafter, Officer Brownfield detained Appellants and called for back-up assistance.

Thus, no matter what angle the question is viewed from, the fact that Officer Brownfield "almost immediately" "smelled burnt marijuana" upon coming into contact with the occupants of the stopped car renders this case outside of <u>Diaz</u>. The officer was in a lawful position to detect this olfactory probable cause. Once he did, an investigation began. There is thus no conflict with <u>Moody</u> or <u>Fitzpatrick</u>: there was an investigation underway as soon as the aromatic probable cause revealed itself.

- 10 -

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reason, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court decline to exercise jurisdiction.